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THE ZENDA
COMMUNITY




Zend

* A mostly African American community between Melrose
and the Massanutten Mountain near the intersection of
Fellowship Road and Fridleys Gap Road.

* The Zenda name was chosen for the post office located
at the intersection mentioned. Tradition is that the
postmaster’s daughter suggested it.

* Other names used for the community were “Athens” and
“Little Africa.”

* Rockingham County Schools always called the school for
the community “Athens Colored School.”
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Zenda Store and Post
Office

Harrison’s store, then Reid’s, served both white and black
families in the Zenda area. The Store’s single entrance was
open to both races. The C. E. Long house is on the left. The
enclosed buggy is the local mail wagon.

Dhatna colirtacyv nf Rav
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The Prisoner of

SEs DOUBLE FEATYRE

-

% 'The
| Prisoner
of Zenda

Huothony Hope

The popularity of Anthony
Hope’s book, The Prisoner of
Zenda, warranted seven
printings and two movies
based on the story. It remains
a best seller today.
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An African American Community of
Hope, Zenda: 1869-1930

This book about
the Zenda
community by
Nancy Bondurant
Jones was
published in
2007.

Sunday, March 17, 13



Major slave owners in Rockingham

C @\u nhtYJ estate values and occupations for Rockingham County™

: Value of
Slave Owner No. of Slaves | - Real Estate | Occupation
St. Clair D, Kirkley 54 S15.000 Lawyer
John Miller Jr. 42 2443 Iron Master

Charles Yancey 40 9,425 Farmer
o Jacob Strayer 30 30,671 Farmer
Tewny: 1 John Hedrick 2 11,358 | Farmer
M n[w Jacoh Williamson 26 46,000 Farmer
Slaves | Jobhn Miller 21 5,000 Farmer
Johin Cock 20 13,328 Farmer
seorge Conrad 20 30,000 Farmer
Jacob Ammon 19 S14.049 Farmer
John Hopkins 18 25,006 Farmer
Jacab Miller 1R 16,160 Farmer
A.S. Gray 17 16,000 Lawyer
Robert Gray 17 50,060 Farmer
Abraham Lincoin 17 28,000 Farmer
Fiftecn James Fulton 16 7,320 Farmer
ot Stephen Harnsberger 16 18,903 Farmer
Nincteen | ;o ha Herring 16 14,000 | Farmer

e Yames Land Lo Not given Not given

Danicl Dovel 5 Not given Not given

Margaret Gambill 15 Not given Not given
Robert Grattan 15 45,000 Farmer
Jeremiah Hernsberger 15 10,280 Farmer

Henry Kisling i5 Not given Blacksmith

Samuel Lewis IS 15,061 Farmer

Slave ownership
tables in
Rockingham County
from “Dismissing
the Peculiar
Institution:
Assessing Slavery in
Page and
Rockingham
Counties, Virginia”
by Charles C.
Ballard.

The men listed here
owned 15 or more
slaves, and the
number ranged
from 15 to 54.

The Abraham
Lincoln shown with
17 slaves was the

cousin of the
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Zenda area as shown on Lake’s
1885 Atlas of Rockingham County
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In 1885—

R. A. Harrison ran the store, and there was
a blacksmith shop across the road from it.

R. Fortune (colored) and J. Wilson (colored) |
lived down the road to the north. 1

“Long Chapel” is up the hill to the east and m.-w‘%
the school which had been separate from :
the church for some years is farther up the .
hill. mé

el

Others living up the hill included C. Grant,
H. Billhimer, H. Carter, J. Watson, M.
Grant,

and W. Timber.

The community is labeled “Colored
Settlement.” | added the name Athens, the

name the county used for the school.
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Zenda People
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Zenda resident Tony Watson is
tending to Dot Maddox (in the
wagon) and her brother Travis
who lived along what is now
Martz Road north of Zenda, in the
lovely house pictured.

Photo courtesy of Gene and Jane
Holsinger
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Death of a Zenda resident
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This death
certificate was
for Zenda
resident Marthie
Madden, colored.
She was buried at
Long’s Chapel on
Valentine’s Day in
1915. There is
nothing marking
her grave in the
cemetery. Her
husband
Abraham was
later buried in
Harrisonburg’s
Newtown
Cemetery.

Courtesy of Sue
Propst
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Charles Newton
Strother
ith his horse and

Before Charles hewton ~
Strother movmg '.' R,
A N
Harrisonburg .
Zenda, he relied on the EEEENSEE

“horsepower” of an
earlier day.

From this photo we
can see that he did not
give up his familiar
mode of travel.

Here he waits to enter
High Street from West
Elizabeth.

Photo courtesy of Robert J.
Sullivan, Jr.
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Former homes of black families at
Zenda
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These three houses still
stand today within half a
mile of Long’s Chapel. They
were the homes of former
black families in the Zenda
community.

Photos by Allen
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LONG’S CHAPEL




Long’s

- Located on the south side of Fridleys Gap Road northeast of
Melrose in the Zenda community.

* It was named for Jacob Long, a white member of the United
Brethren in Christ church at Lacey Spring. Long helped African
Americans in the area realize the dream of having their own
church.

* William W. and Hannah Carpenter deeded a lot “for the
purpose of a church, burial ground, and School house lot” for
$30 in Sept. 1869.

* The original trustees for the church were John Watson, Henry
Frazier, and Reuben Dallard.

* Tradition tells that the church was built in 1871.
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The Cemetery at Long’s
When@d@49E Jenkins D

first visited Zenda, the
overgrown and fallen
headstones reflected years
of neglect. Sunken areas
with no tombstones bore
silent witness to forgotten
burials at the site.

Allen Litten
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The cemetery at Long’s

* Family names in the cemetery
include:

Bibbs
Billhimer
Broadus
Brock
Grant
Jackson
Johnston
Richardson
Strother
Wilson
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AFRICAN
AMERICAN
ISSUES




A reconstructed slave

Photo courtesy of the Booker T. Washington National
Monument
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Aunt

Photo of a Harrisonburg “house
mammy.”

The prominent Gray family of
Harrisonburg called this slave
“Aunt Lucy.” She was an
important servant in the Gray
household and a notable
influence on the Gray children,
including writer Orra Gray
Langhorne.

Speculation has suggested that
this Lucy was the mother of
Jane Simms and the
grandmother of Lucy Simms,
the innovative African-
American educator of
Harrisonburg.

Photo courtesy of Charles E.
Wynes
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The Civil War Courthouse in
Hal

The deed for the Long’s Chapel land was signed and
recorded in this Courthouse, Harrisonburg’s third, that was

built in 1833 and replaced in 1874 when it had become too
small for the growing county.

Photo courtesv of Eastern
Sunday, March 17, 13




A post -Civil War marrlage license
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ATHENS
COLORED
SCHOOL AT
ZENDA




Athens Colored

 Black children in the community first attended
school in Long’s Chapel.

* Lucy Simms spent her first year (1877-78) teaching
school at Zenda. Of this experience Miss Simms
wrote:

*“l had a very pleasant school, in a very pleasant
heighborhood but not very pleasant pay.”

* A separate schoolhouse was built in 1882.
* The final year the school was in session was 1925.

- Students were then transferred to Effinger Street
School in Harrisonburg.
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Athens Colored School
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An unidentified teacher stands with her pupils outside
the school at Zenda. It was officially called “Athens
Colored School.” By this time the schoolhouse was a
separate building from Long’s Chapel.

Photo courtesy of Floyd Temple
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MonthI‘y School Report
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This is a monthly report for
the school at Zenda—Athens

Colored School-—when Annie

Grant Wilson taught there in
January 1913.

Her 12 students, 7 boys and
5 girls, were not the required
minimum number to keep the
school open. That is why the
Linville District School Board
paid her only$10.50 a month.
She received an additional
$60.00 from other sources.

Courtesy of Rockingham County Public
Schools
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Newtown Colored School,

old and new, at El

An example of another African
American school in Rockingham
County.

s’V

Black residents in
Elkton’s Newtown
community called the
newer school on the
right the East Elkton
Rosenwald School.

Financial assistance
from the Julius
Rosenwald Fund

S ——————————— .
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Since blacks were primarily destined for jobs of manual
labor, African American schools emphasized manual training

more than schools for whites. Photo courtesy of the
Harrisonburg-Rockingham Historical Society

Sunday, March 17, 13



UNITED
BRETHREN IN
CHRIST EFFORTS
AMONG THE
FREEDMEN




The United Brethren in Christ Church
and African Americans in Rockingham

*The denomination was nicknamed
“German Methodists.”

*Begun in Pennsylvania in 1767.
The denomination was antislavery.

‘Following the Civil War, mission efforts
of the United Brethren church in
Rockingham focused on improving the
plight of the Freedmen.
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African American United Brethren
in Christ Churches

*Seven churches were established
in Rockingham County.

- Beasley’s in Mountain Valley

* Broadway near Main Street

- Dungeon’s Chapel near Pleasant Valley
* Harrisonburg on Kelley Street

* Keezletown (unknown location)
 Linville on Main Street

*Long’s Chapel at Zenda
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AL JENKINS
AND HIS WORK
AT ZENDA




Dungeon’s

As with Long’s Chapel, this was another United Brethren in Christ
church for African Americans. It was located near St. Jacobs-
Spaders Church in the Pleasant Valley neighborhood. Al Jenkins is
shown here in a contemplative mood as he reflects about his own
project at Zenda. Unfortunately this dilapidated structure was not
saved. It completely collapsed during a windstorm in May 2007.
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Long’s Chapel and Al Jenkins

* Alfred “Al” Jenkins, Jr., lived in Goose Creek, South Carolina,
near Charleston when he first visited Long’s Chapel.

* He and his wife Robin bought the half-acre parcel of land
containing the chapel in late 2004.

- An adjoining acre-and-a-half was donated to the project.

* In 2005 Al and Robin Jenkins set up the Long’s Chapel
Preservation Society.
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The Long’s Chapel site
before restoration
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The cemetery
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The Long’s Chapel before
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Interior views before the
restoration

Apse addition

q An apse is a recessed area, generally

| semicircular, built off a sanctuary.
. | ‘-L 4 This one at Longs’ Chapel was a

— ‘\ later addition to the church.
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Duplex slave quarters at
“Manheim”

These were the surviving slave quarters at Manheim, the Coffman farm on
Linville Creek at Wengers Mill. One of these brick buildings has been
dismantled and taken to Zenda for eventual restoration near Long’s Chapel
as an example of local slave quarters.

Photo courtesy of Carl & Agnes
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Long’s Chapel and Manheim slave

This was a proposed architectural rendering of Long’s
Chapel and the slave quarters after the buildings were to

be moved farther from the road. The Chapel was actually
restored without moving it.

Courtesy of Lineage Architects, Verona, VA
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The restoration begins
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Long’s Chapel receives grant June

The Virginia Foundation for the Humanities awards a $7,500
grant to help with the restoration efforts and fund a workshop to
make local teachers aware of Zenda and other African American
sites in Rockingham County.
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Job Corps students
help with restoration work
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These students were from Horizons Youth Service and
came from California, Kentucky, and Texas.
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Repairing the siding on Long’s
Chapel
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The restored Long’s
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A banner on the church
advertises the Society’s tax-
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LIONGS CHAPEL
RESTORATION -

Join us in Restoring the Chapel

Lad
- *A non-profit 501(C) 3 Tax Exempt
* Nationa! Historic Landmark
* Virginia Historic Register

-
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Volunteers pose for a group
photo
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Long’s Chapel and
Zenda

LONGS CHAPEL
AND ZENDA

e —

Long's Chapel was built in 1870, a year after
William and Hannah Carpenter and the Church
of the United Brethrem in Christ deeded land
here *‘to colored people...for...a church,
burial ground, and a schoel house.' Henry Carter,
Milton Grant. William Timbers, and Richard
Fortune, all formerly enslaved, owned two-acre
“home plots” where the community of Zenda
grew to 17 houscholds of 80 people by 1900. The
school. where notable Harrisonburg educator
Lucy Simms began her career, closed in 1925. In
Zenda, blacks freely exercised new rights to
worship, marriage, education, property, and
burfal in a marked gravesite.

DU AMTMENT 0 W MG W T
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The restored church
sitting
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The cemetery
today
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A memorial stone in the
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LONG’S CHAPEL
PRESERVATION
SOCIETY




Long’s Chapel Preservation
Society brochure

LONGS CHAPEL

Preservation Society
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Long’s Chapel Preservation

‘Founded in 2005 as a Virginia
hon-profit corporation with these
objectives—

*To preserve the property at Long’s
Chapel and the cemetery.

*To preserve the history of the Zenda
community.
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Long’s Chapel Preservation

‘Goals—

*To restore the church building and
the adjoining graveyard to make the
site accessible to visitors.

*To collect and present the history of
the church and of the freedmen
community of Zenda.

*To support similar historic
preservation projects in the

Sunday, March 17, 13




Has come

Sunday, March 17, 13




—for now,

but there’s more to
come—
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